Clerk of the Court
Received 08/18/2025 04:25 PM
Filed 08/18/2025 04:25 PM

Appeal No. 24-CF-688

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

DEMANN SHELTON

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA.

Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of
Columbia
Criminal Division

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

JACLYN FRANKFURT
SHILPA S. SATOSKAR
*AREEBA JIBRIL

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE
633 3rd St, NW
Washington, DC 20001
Telephone: (202) 628-1200

*Counsel for Oral Argument

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the trial court reversibly erred when it responded to the jury's note asking if multiple people could have joint possession of an item by instructing it that joint constructive possession was a potential theory of conviction in this case, thus allowing it to find that Mr. Shelton (the sole back seat passenger) and one or more of the other two occupants of the car had joint constructive possession of the firearm inside a jacket containing Mr. Shelton's ID that was in the back seat compartment of the car, where the government argued and presented evidence that Mr. Shelton alone possessed the firearm; the defense raised multiple reasons to doubt the government's case, including by suggesting that another occupant of the car displayed behavior more consistent with hiding the firearm in the jacket; there was no evidence from which the jury could infer that Mr. Shelton and another occupant of the car worked together to jointly possess the firearm; and the jury was deadlocked on the firearms counts prior to the court's response, suggesting that jurors did not believe that Mr. Shelton had sole possession of the firearm.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

On March 11, 2020, Demann Shelton was indicted on two counts of Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance While Armed, D.C. Code, § 22-4502; two counts of Possession of Firearm During Crime of Violence, D.C. Code § 22-4504(b) (“PFCV”); Unlawful Possession of a Firearm (prior felony), D.C. Code § 22-4503(a)(1); Carrying a Pistol Without a License, D.C. Code § 22-4504(a)(1) (“CPWL”); Possession of a Large Capacity Ammunition Feeding Device, D.C. Code § 7-2506.01(b) (“PLCFD”); Possession of Unregistered Firearm, D.C. Code § 7-2502.01(a) (“UF”); Unlawful Possession of Ammunition, D.C. Code, § 7-2506.01 (“UA”); and Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, D.C. Code § 48-1103(a). R. 192-196.¹ On April 12, 2024, the government amended the drug counts to Attempted Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance While Armed. 4/12/24 Tr.; R. 52. As such, the PFCV charge was also dismissed. *Id.* The government also dismissed the PLCFD charge. 4/12/24 Tr. 5.

Pre-trial litigation began in front of the Honorable Robert D. Okun on December 20, 2019, but the case was transferred to the Honorable Lynn Leibovitz on December 30, 2021. A jury trial commenced before Judge Leibovitz on April 24, 2024. On May 1st, 2024, the jury convicted Mr. Shelton of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm, CPWL, UF, UA, and Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, R. 852, and acquitted him of both counts of Attempted Possession with Intent to

¹ The PWID, PFCV, Unlawful Possession of a Firearm, PLCFD, and CPWL charges were enhanced as offenses committed during release. D.C. Code 23-1328(a)(1).

Distribute a Controlled Substance While Armed. On July 12th 2024, Judge Leibovitz sentenced Mr. Shelton to an aggregate term of 14 months in prison. R. 875.

Mr. Shelton timely noted an appeal on July 22, 2024. R. 873-74. This Court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Demann Shelton was convicted of firearm possession, related firearms charges, and possession of drug paraphernalia after the Metropolitan Police Department's Gun Recovery Unit searched a car, in which he was a passenger, that was parked in a no-parking zone. The car had three occupants – Marquis Payne, the driver; Antonio Smith, the front seat passenger; and Mr. Shelton, who sat in the back seat behind the driver. 4/24/24 Tr. 98. As multiple officers approached the vehicle, they saw Mr. Smith and Mr. Payne frantically moving around, *id.* at 111, and saw Mr. Smith moving his arms down and anywhere within reach. *Id.* at 161, 103-104. After ignoring police commands to open his door, Mr. Smith eventually fled from the car, assaulting a police officer as he ran. *Id.* at 103-04, 107. Officers later found alleged narcotics (a “white rock-like substance in small zips”) on Mr. Smith. *Id.* at 155. Mr. Shelton, on the other hand, remained in the back seat as the officers approached, was never seen making furtive gestures or evasive movements, and did not flee. *Id.* at 111-12. Upon searching the vehicle, officers found a firearm inside the glove box in the front passenger area, *id.* at 154, and

another firearm in a jacket that was on the floor of the back seat area behind the front passenger's seat. *Id.* at 157. The jacket also contained alleged narcotics (“52 zips of a white rock like substance” and “20 suboxin strips”)², a digital scale, Mr. Shelton's photo ID, and mail addressed to him. *Id.* at 177-78. After searching Mr. Shelton, officers found \$2,442 in cash in his pocket. *Id.* at 48-49.

The government's theory at trial was that Mr. Shelton alone constructively possessed the contraband found in the jacket. 4/29/24 Tr. 31. It never suggested that the other occupants of the car had anything to do with the jacket or its contents. *Id.* at 42. The defense maintained that although the jacket belonged to Mr. Shelton, the items inside did not. *Id.* at 43. Defense counsel pointed to multiple reasons to doubt that the firearm belonged to Mr. Shelton. Unlike Mr. Smith and Mr. Payne, Mr. Shelton had not panicked or made any suspicious movements inside the car as police approached, but officers had rushed to pin the firearm in the jacket on him without sufficient investigation. *Id.* at 48. There was no DNA or fingerprint evidence connecting the firearm to Mr. Shelton and the government had not even called to the stand the officer who initially found and searched the jacket and who had most closely observed Mr. Smith's frantic movements. *Id.* at 57, 59. Defense counsel pointed out that Mr. Smith's behavior, in particular, raised reasonable doubt about the government's case against Mr. Shelton, because it suggested that he could have hidden the firearm in the jacket before he fled the vehicle. *Id.* at 22-23.

² “Suboxin” and “buprenephone” were used interchangeably. 4/24/24 Tr. 19.

During deliberations, the jury sent a note stating that it was deadlocked on all counts other than the drug paraphernalia count and asking about a new theory that the government had never pressed: “Can two or more people have joint possession of an item?” R. 843; 4/30/24 Tr. 2. Over defense objection, the court told the jury that the law recognizes joint constructive possession of property and instructed it on the elements of joint constructive possession. 5/1/24 Tr. 27.³ Roughly an hour and 45 minutes later, the jury returned with a verdict, finding Mr. Shelton guilty of unlawful possession of a firearm and related firearms charges. *Id.* at 31.

The Evidence at Trial

At trial, the government did not call Officer Laury, who had searched the jacket and found the contraband inside and had first interacted with front-seat passenger Mr. Smith. Instead, the government presented testimony from Officer Justin Rogers, who was one of six officers who effectuated the stop of the car and its occupants, but had not searched the car or the jacket; Officer Sherman Anderson, who arrived on the scene later to gather and process evidence; Officer Scott Brown, an expert witness on drug distribution; and Officer Christian Valdez, who testified that the firearm was not registered to Mr. Shelton.

On December 18, 2019, at approximately 12:30 pm, Officer Justin Rogers, a Metropolitan Police Department officer with the Gun Recovery Unit (“GRU”), was part of a team of six officers on “routine patrol” in the area around 90 L Street N.W. in Washington, D.C. 4/24/24 Tr. 76, 29-30. The officers were divided into

³ The court accepted the jury’s verdict of guilty on the count of possession of drug paraphernalia. 5/1/24 Tr. 25-27.

two unmarked cars. *Id.* at 72. Officer Rogers was in one car with Officer Laury, who was driving, and Officer Choi. Officers Hiller, Torres, and McCaw were in the vehicle behind his. *Id.* at 30-31, 100. The officers were dressed in plain clothes and tactical vests labeled with “police” on the front and officer name and badge number on the back. *Id.* at 30, 84. They were armed with guns, ASP batons, and pepper spray, *id.* at 97.

According to Officer Rogers, the main goal of the GRU, which had been disbanded by the time of trial, was to recover guns. GRU officers worked independently to look for guns in a variety of neighborhoods. 4/24/24 Tr. 70-72. That day, although there had not been a report of suspicious activity, the officers focused their attention on a black Honda parked in a parking lot. *Id.* at 73-74. Officer Rogers testified that he “believed the vehicle to be illegally parked” because it was “parked away from the other vehicles and it was under a no parking sign and it was backed in.” *Id.* at 81-82.

Officer Rogers testified that as they pulled into the lot, he heard Officer Laury say that the front passenger, Mr. Smith, looked panicked and was moving his arms frantically. 4/24/24 Tr. 100-04. As the officers approached, they saw both people in the front of the car making furtive movements, but not Mr. Shelton, who was in the back seat. *Id.* at 111. The officers were suspicious of Mr. Smith because of his frantic and panicked behavior, which they thought indicated he could be hiding something suspicious. *Id.* at 106.

With their car stopped face-to-face with the parked Honda, 4/24/24 Tr. at 100, Officer Rogers got out of the car with Officers Laury and Choi and ran to the

vehicle, *id.* at 83. He heard Officer Choi say “something to the effect of he’s reaching down” when observing Mr. Smith’s movements as they approached the car. *Id.* at 161. Officer Laury went straight to the front passenger’s door, and Officer Rogers was close behind her with his ASP baton extended by the time he arrived at the car. *Id.* at 83, 98. Officer Laury knocked repeatedly on the front passenger door, yelling at Mr. Smith to “open the door.” *Id.* at 106-07; Def. Ex. 101, 17:37:20 – 31.⁴ Officer Rogers heard her yell at Mr. Smith to open the door five times, and saw her banging on his window and pulling on the door handle. *Id.* at 106-07. Instead of complying with officer directions, Mr. Smith was moving his arms frantically, in and around his immediate vicinity, anywhere in reaching distance. *Id.* at 103-04. Officer Rogers did not see Mr. Smith open or put anything inside the glove compartment, nor in his pants, and neither did any of the other officers. *Id.* at 161.

When Mr. Smith finally opened the door, he pushed Officer Laury out of his way and took off running at a full sprint. 4/24/24 Tr. 107-08. Officer Rogers, Officer Torres, and other officers chased him as he attempted to thwart the officers by shoving a shopping cart in the path of Officer Torres. *Id.* at 109. Officer Torres ultimately caught up to Mr. Smith and he and Officer Rogers handcuffed him. *Id.* at 109-10. Upon searching Mr. Smith, who was wearing a jacket, they found white, rock-like narcotics in small zips. *Id.* at 155.

⁴ The bodyworn camera footage was timestamped using “Zulu time” which is military time. *Id.* at 185. A time stamp for 17:55:35 indicated that it was 15:55:35 in D.C. *Id.*

In contrast to Mr. Smith, Mr. Shelton made no furtive movements, did not try to run away, and did not behave aggressively. 4/24/24 Tr. 111-12. Officer Rogers did not see Mr. Shelton moving frantically inside the car, reaching anywhere inside the car, or shoving anything into a jacket, nor did any other officer mention seeing Mr. Shelton doing so. *Id.*

Officer Laury searched the front passenger area of the car and found a loaded gun in the glove compartment located in front of the seat where Mr. Smith had been sitting. 4/24/24 Tr. 154. Officer Rogers testified that Officer Laury removed a black jacket from behind the front passenger seat and searched it. *Id.* at 112-113, 115. He saw the black jacket on the ground about five minutes after it had been searched, and observed that “one of the pockets was open on it,” *id.* at 40, 114, and that the “tan and black firearm” was located “in the jacket pocket.” *Id.* at 42. The officers arrested Mr. Shelton and searched him. *Id.* at 117. Mr. Shelton did not have any guns, drugs, or other contraband on his person, *id.*, but had \$2,442 in cash in one of his pockets, *id.* at 48.

Officer Rogers never saw Mr. Shelton wearing the jacket, holding it, touching it, or putting anything inside it, and no other officer reported having seen him do so. 4/24/24 Tr. 114-15. He noted that despite the cold, only Mr. Smith was wearing a jacket.⁵ *Id.* at 115. Officer Rogers acknowledged that though an eyewitness had been present on the scene and had been seen talking to Mr. Smith at his window,

⁵ Officer Rogers initially testified that Mr. Payne and Mr. Smith were both wearing jackets, but later amended his testimony to clarify that Mr. Payne was not wearing a jacket either. *Id.* at 115-116.

no officer questioned the witness about what she saw and he could not recall any officer attempting to speak with her at all. *Id.* at 124-25.

Officer Rogers's credibility was impeached on multiple grounds. First, he had far less personal knowledge about the relevant events than Officer Laury, who did not testify. He had not searched the jacket or even witnessed its search, 4/24/24 Tr. 113, and he had not seen as much of Mr. Smith's furtive behaviors, testifying only to the other officer's observations. *Id.* at 100-07. Second, he had ample reason to stay in the good graces of the police department. Between 2015 and 2019, he had been cited by MPD divisions for various offenses, including violations for "causing a preventable accident," *id.* at 130, failure to activate body worn camera, *id.*, negligently losing MPD equipment, *id.*, sustained findings of harassment, including an unfounded threat to arrest and use of insulting, demeaning or humiliating conduct or language against a civilian, *id.* at 131, and failure to appear at a mediation concerning a complaint, *id.* at 131. Finally, cross-examination revealed his participation in problematic behavior by the GRU. *Id.* at 132-35. Officer Rogers was captured in a photograph with other GRU officers posing in front of a GRU banner with a graphic of a skull and cross bones with a bullet hole through the forehead. 4/24/24 Tr. 134-35; Def. Ex. 106; Def. Ex. 107. Directly above the skull and cross bones, were two handguns and on both sides were handcuffs. Def. Ex. 106; Def. Ex. 107. The motto on the banner read "vest up, one in the chamber," which referred to the tactical vest that GRU members wore while on patrol. 4/24/24 Tr. 135.

Officer Sherman Anderson, another member of the GRU, responded to the scene at around 12:48 p.m. to assist with the recovery of evidence. 4/24/24 Tr. 163-64. He did not participate in the initial stop of the vehicle or its search. *Id.* When he arrived, other officers had “several individuals detained” and he was alerted to “the recovery of evidence [] includ[ing] firearms and narcotics.” *Id.* at 164. Officer Anderson observed Mr. Shelton on the scene, standing a little away from the car, and described him as wearing a hoodie and not a jacket. *Id.* at 166.

The doors of the car were open when Officer Anderson arrived. 4/24/24 Tr. 166. While processing the scene, Officer Anderson recovered a gun that had been found in the glove box by Officer Laury, 4/25/24 Tr. 16, and cash that was found on Mr. Shelton’s person. *Id.* at 17. Inside the car, there was “a lot of stuff” in the back seat area behind the front passenger seat, including a child’s car seat, a purse, and at least one cell phone, *id.* at 67-69; Def. Ex. 206, which the officer described as “a good amount of stuff back there,” 4/25/24 Tr. 68. He did not collect any of the objects in the back seat area behind the front passenger seat, but did not know who owned these items. *Id.* at 69. He knew that cellphones had been collected from the scene. *Id.* Officer Anderson testified that “[t]here’s no partition or divider” that would prevent someone on one side of the back seat from accessing the other side of the back seat. *Id.* at 5-6.

The jacket had already been removed from the car when Officer Anderson arrived and was on the ground by the rear passenger side of the car. 4/25/24 Tr. 32. Officer Laury, who had found and searched the jacket before him, *id.* at 31-32, directed his attention to its “right front pocket,” which was open and unzipped. *Id.*

at 9, 33. In that “external right jacket pocket,” *id.* at 59, he found a tan .40 caliber Glock firearm loaded with ammunition. 4/24/24 Tr. 169, 172.⁶ In the “right inside jacket pocket,” 4/24/24 Tr. 173; 4/25/24 Tr. 59, he recovered 52 zips of a white rock-like substance and 20 suboxin strips. 4/24/24 Tr. 177; 4/25/24 Tr. 84. From the rest of the jacket, he recovered “some mail in the name of Mr. Shelton along with a bank card with his name on it and a photo ID” and a digital scale, one that he said was “typically used to weigh narcotics.” 4/24/24 Tr. at 178. The items were spread out throughout the jacket, with the gun found in the outside right jacket pocket, narcotics in the right inside jacket pocket, and the mail, ID, and digital scale in a third pocket. 4/25/24 Tr. 85.⁷ Officer Anderson took the evidence back to the station to be processed. *Id.* at 16. He photographed the weapon, *id.* at 16, and dusted it for fingerprints, but did not recover any, *id.* at 18. He also swabbed it for DNA, but was not the one who tested the swabs. *Id.* at 18.

Officer Scott Brown, who was not on the scene the day of the arrest, was called by the government as an expert witness to testify about the distribution of narcotics in D.C. 4/25/24 Tr. 95-96. The government elicited testimony from Officer Brown

⁶ During Officer Anderson’s testimony about the jacket pockets, the government showed the jury part of his bodyworn camera footage showing him searching the jacket. Gov. Ex. 304. Defense counsel also played a portion of his bodyworn camera footage showing Officer Laury holding the right exterior pocket open so he could take a picture of the firearm inside. Def. Ex. 201.

⁷ Officer Anderson initially testified that the mail, narcotics, and ID were all found in the right inside jacket pocket, 4/25/24 Tr. 12, 63, but later clarified that the narcotics and the paperwork addressed to Mr. Shelton were not in the same pocket. *Id.* at 85.

regarding the crack cocaine and buprenorphine found in the jacket and whether the quantity found was consistent with drug dealing rather than personal use.⁸ The jacket contained 20 strips of buprenorphine and 52 small zips of crack cocaine, which Officer Brown testified was not consistent with personal use. *Id.* at 109, 137.⁹ He testified that users typically purchased these drugs with cash and that the amount of money found on Mr. Shelton was more than the amount of cash that a user would have. *Id.* at 113-14.¹⁰ Finally, he testified that the presence of the digital scale and firearm was consistent with drug distribution, *id.* at 115-16, but acknowledged that the scale did not have batteries and therefore could not be used, *id.* at 144.

During Officer Brown's testimony, the prosecution attempted to elicit testimony regarding "how common is it for multiple drug dealers to be in a . . .," but the judge intervened and asked counsel to approach the bench. 4/25/24 Tr. 118. Recognizing that there had been no suggestion or allegation of joint drug dealing in this case, the judge disallowed the question, explaining that, "I don't think there's relevance to multiple drug dealers or the conspiracy thing." *Id.* at 118.¹¹

⁸ Buprenorphine is also referred to as suboxin strips. *Id.* at 105.

⁹ He testified that a typical user would have between one to five doses of crack cocaine and buprenorphine. *Id.* at 108-09.

¹⁰ Officer Brown testified that the cost of a dose of crack cocaine was between \$10-\$20 and buprenorphine was between \$5-\$20. *Id.* at 113-114. He noted that the bills found on Mr. Shelton were not crumpled up and were split up in multiple denominations, including hundreds, twenties, fives, and ones. *Id.* at 133-34.

¹¹ The final witness the government called was Officer Christian Valdez, who testified that the firearm was not registered to Mr. Shelton. 4/25/24 Tr. at 155. He

(Footnote Cont'd on Following Page)

Closing Arguments

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