BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

---

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  
COURT OF APPEALS

---

No. 24-CF-668

---

DEMANN SHELTON,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT  
OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  
CRIMINAL DIVISION

---

JEANINE FERRIS PIRRO  
United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB  
BRYAN H. HAN  
LUKE ALBI

\* R. ALAN DARBY (DC BAR 90029705)  
Assistant United States Attorneys

\* Counsel for Oral Argument  
601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232  
Washington, D.C. 20530  
Ryan.Darby@usdoj.gov  
(202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2019-CF2-16024



Clerk of the Court  
Received 10/28/2025 12:30 PM  
Filed 10/28/2025 12:30 PM

##

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

This Court reversed, finding that there was insufficient evidence to support the joint constructive possession instruction on a theory that Thomas constructively possessed a firearm in the actual possession of Parker or someone else. *Thomas*, 806 A.2d at 628-29. There was no evidence whatsoever supporting the joint constructive possession theory and “no evidence indicating how long Mr. Thomas and Mr. Parker were together before the police arrived or what they had been doing.” *Id.* at 629. It found there were “none of the requisite ‘circumstances indicating a concert of illegal action [that] obviously tend[s] to dispel the natural fear that the doctrine of constructive possession is casting too wide a

net.” *Id.* (quoting *Brown v. United States*, 546 A.2d 390, 397 (D.C. 1987), *abrogated by Rivas*, 783 A.2d at 130-31).

Here, unlike *Thomas*, there was evidence supporting a joint constructive possession theory. In *Thomas*, the only connection between the firearm and other individuals was proximity. *See Thomas*, 806 A.2d at 627-28. In addition, the evidence in that case clearly established Thomas and Parker each threw one object apiece, excluding them from possessing the other thrown object. *Id.* at 628. Here, the evidence did not exclude—and the jury could reasonably infer—a scenario where Smith and Shelton both had constructive possession of the firearm. Instructing the jury on a theory of joint constructive possession was not error, and Shelton’s convictions should be affirmed.

## **II. Even Assuming the Supplemental Instruction Was Given In Error, Reversal Is Not Required.**

Even if the trial court erred in giving a supplemental instruction to the jury on joint constructive possession, Shelton’s convictions should be upheld as there was undisputedly sufficient evidence he himself possessed the firearm.

## A. Applicable Legal Principles

In *Griffin v. United States*, 502 U.S. 46, 47-48 (1991), the Supreme Court considered a challenge to a general verdict of guilt where the government alleged two objects of a conspiracy, and there was insufficient evidence as to one of those objectives. The Court considered *Yates v. United States*, 354 U.S. 298, 304-11 (1957), which held that a general verdict of guilty must be set aside where it is supported on one ground, but where a second legally deficient theory of liability was submitted to the jury. *Griffin*, 502 U.S. at 52-54. The Court rejected Griffin's attempt to extend *Yates* to "set aside a general verdict because one of the possible bases of conviction was neither unconstitutional . . . nor even illegal[,] . . . but merely unsupported by sufficient evidence." *Id.* at 56.

It is one thing to negate a verdict that, while supported by evidence, may have been based on an erroneous view of the law; it is another to do so merely on the chance – remote, it seems to us – that the jury convicted on a ground that was not supported by adequate evidence when there existed alternative grounds for which the evidence was sufficient.

*Id.* at 59-60 (quoting *United States v. Townsend*, 924 F.2d 1385, 1414 (7th Cir. 1991)). The Court continued:

What we have said today does not mean that a district court cannot, in its discretion, give an instruction of the sort petitioner requested here, eliminating from the jury's consideration an alternative basis of liability that does not have adequate evidentiary support. Indeed, if the evidence is insufficient to support an alternative legal theory of liability, it would generally be preferable for the court to give an instruction removing that theory from the jury's consideration. The refusal to do so, however, does not provide an independent basis for reversing an otherwise valid conviction.

*Id.* at 60; accord *Sochor v. Florida*, 504 U.S. 527, 538 (1992) (relying on *Griffin* to reject an attack on a death sentence where one of the four aggravating circumstances submitted to the jury for consideration was not supported by sufficient evidence).

Thus,

[i]n criminal cases, the general rule, as stated by Lord Mansfield before the Declaration of Independence, is 'that if there is any one count to support the verdict, it shall stand good, notwithstanding all the rest are bad.' And it is settled law in this court, and in this country generally, that in any criminal case a general verdict and judgment on an indictment or information containing several counts cannot be reversed on error, if any one of the counts is good and warrants the judgment, because, in the absence of anything in the record to show the contrary, the presumption of law is that the court awarded sentence on the good count only.

*Griffin*, 502 U.S. at 50 (quoting *Claassen v. United States*, 142 U.S. 140, 146 (1891)). "This common-law rule . . . is also applied to . . . a general

jury verdict under a *single* count charging the commission of offense by two or more means.” *Id.* (emphasis in original). “[W]hen parallel theories are submitted to a criminal jury antecedent to a general verdict of guilty, the verdict should be upheld as long as there is sufficient evidence to validate either of the theories presented.” *Inyamah v. United States*, 956 A.2d 58, 62 (D.C. 2008) (quoting *Leftwich v. Maloney*, 532 F.3d 20, 24 (1st Cir. 2008) (citing *Griffin*, 502 U.S. at 60)).

## **B. Discussion**

Shelton does not contend the evidence was insufficient to establish that he constructively possessed the firearm in his jacket. Nor could he. Shelton was the only rear passenger, and Shelton’s jacket was observed in the rear of the vehicle within arm’s reach (4/24/24 Tr. 33, 40-42). The jacket contained the firearm; the ammunition; the extended magazine; mail addressed to Shelton; a bank card in Shelton’s name with his photo; and a photo identification of Shelton with his name and date of birth (4/24/24 Tr. 168-73, 177-78). The presence of identifying documents such as mail or personal papers, bank cards, and identification cards in proximity to the firearm inside Shelton’s jacket sufficiently established his constructive possession of the firearm. *See Sanders v. United States*,

330 A.3d 1013, 1034 (D.C. 2025) (“[T]his court has previously held that evidence may establish constructive possession where the contraband is found among the accused’s personal items even though it was not in plain view.”); *see also Johnson*, 290 A.3d at 516; (*Jamel*) *Evans*, 122 A.3d at 890-91. Thus, *Griffin* requires affirmance of Shelton’s convictions.

In *Griffin*, the defendant had been convicted of an unlawful conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371. *See Griffin*, 502 U.S. at 47. A single count in the indictment charged that conspiracy had two unlawful objects: (1) impeding efforts of the Internal Revenue Service to ascertain income taxes and (2) impeding efforts of the Drug Enforcement Administration to ascertain forfeitable income. *See id.* The evidence at trial failed to establish the defendant’s guilt with respect to the second object. *See id.* at 47-48. The trial court’s instructions to the jury permitted them to return a guilty verdict if they found the defendant participated in either of the two objects of the conspiracy. *See id.* at 48. The jury returned a general verdict of guilty. *See id.* The Supreme Court affirmed the verdict, citing the rule that when a jury returns a general verdict of guilty on a single count charging more than one criminal act, the verdict

stands if the evidence sufficiently supports any of the acts charged. *See id.* at 56-57 (citing *Turner v. United States*, 396 U.S. 398, 420 (1970)).

As the Sixth Circuit has recognized, *Griffin* “held that a jury verdict is valid if sufficient evidence supports one of the grounds for conviction, so long as the other submitted grounds are neither illegal nor unconstitutional, but merely unsupported by the evidence.” *United States v. Mari*, 47 F.3d 782, 786 (6th Cir. 1995) (citing *Griffin*, 502 U.S. at 55-56). Thus, “the giving of the instruction on the unsupported ground is harmless as a matter of law.” *Id.* (citing *Griffin*, 502 U.S. at 55-56); *see also United States v. Gonzales*, 906 F.3d 784, 791 (9th Cir. 2018) (affirming conspiracy convictions “regardless of whether there was sufficient evidence to support the first object of the charged conspiracy, since it is undisputed that sufficient evidence exists to support the second object”); *United States v. Mehanna*, 735 F.3d 32, 48 (1st Cir. 2013) (if “a mistake concerning the weight or the factual import of the evidence” underlies the argument, the verdict must be upheld as long as the evidence is adequate to support one of the government’s alternative theories of guilt”) (quoting *Griffin*, 502 U.S. at 59); *United States v. Ayon Corrales*, 608 F.3d 654, 658 (10th Cir. 2010) (cleaned up) (“[A] district

court does not commit reversible error where it submits a properly-defined, although factually unsupported, legal theory to the jury along with a properly supported basis of liability.”); *United States v. Syme*, 276 F.3d 131, 148 (3d Cir. 2002) (“Because [the defendant] leaves unchallenged at least one of the fraud theories charged in each fraud and False Claims Act count for which he was convicted, we must uphold the jury verdict on each of these counts.”); *United States v. Dreamer*, 88 F.3d 655, 658 (8th Cir. 1996) (“As long as there is sufficient evidence to support at least one of the grounds for conviction, we must affirm the jury’s general verdict.”).<sup>12</sup>

---

<sup>12</sup> This Court has suggested that it is an open question as to whether *Griffin* provides a presumption that may be rebutted rather than mandating affirmance. See *Dickens v. United States*, 163 A.3d 804, 811 (D.C. 2017) (quoting *Inyamah*, 956 A.2d at 63, as referring to “the *Griffin* presumption”). But even though *Griffin* based its reasoning on a common-law presumption, its holding was clear: submission of a factually insufficient theory to the jury “does not provide an independent basis for reversing an otherwise valid conviction” so long as a factually sufficient alternative theory is presented to the jury. 502 U.S. at 60. The federal courts of appeal have largely adhered to that plain language. See, e.g., *Gonzalez*, 906 F.3d at 791 (Ninth Circuit); *Mehanna*, 735 F.2d at 48 (First Circuit); *Ayon Corrales*, 608 F.3d at 658 (Tenth Circuit); *Syme*, 276 F.3d at 148 (Third Circuit); *Dreamer*, 88 F.3d at 658 (Eighth Circuit); *Mari*, 47 F.3d at 786 (Sixth Circuit); but see *United States v. Bouchard*, 828 F.3d 116, 128 (2d Cir. 2016) (holding that acquittal on substantive count did not rebut *Griffin* presumption on conspiracy conviction); *United*  
(continued . . .)

In this case, even assuming the theory of joint constructive possession was improperly submitted to the jury because it had insufficient factual support, *Griffin* mandates affirmance of the jury’s general verdict. See *White v. United States*, 714 A.2d 115, 118 & n.5 (D.C. 1998) (“Since the jury returned a general verdict of guilty on the charge of CPWL, the conviction may be affirmed if the evidence was sufficient to support either theory” of “carrying” a pistol—actual possession or constructive possession); see also *United States v. Hill*, 659 F. App’x 707, 710 (3d Cir. 2016) (“While Hill did object to the District Court’s first supplemental instruction, he provides no specific objection beyond a general complaint as to the appropriateness of the constructive possession instruction in the first place. That complaint is foreclosed by *Griffin*, and we discern no abuse of discretion in the District Court’s decision to respond to the jury’s questions in a way consistent with its initial instructions.”).

---

*States v. Henning*, 286 F.3d 914, 922 (6th Cir. 2002) (describing “presumption that jurors convicted on the factually sufficient theory”); *United States v. Briscoe*, 65 F.3d 576, 585 (7th Cir. 1995) (under *Griffin*, court is “allowed to presume that the jury rejected the factually inadequate theory”); *United States v. Stone*, 9 F.3d 934, 941-42 (11th Cir. 1993) (applying “presumption” in harmless error analysis).

Shelton’s continued reliance (at 26-30) on *Thomas*, an outlier in its analysis of *Griffin*, is misplaced. *Thomas* reasoned that “the trial court erred in response to a jury note requesting clarification of a constructive possession jury instruction because the judge implicitly told the jury it could consider a theory of joint a theory of joint constructive possession that was not supported by legally sufficient evidence.” *Thomas*, 806 A.2d at 627, 630-31. *Thomas* described this as a “legal error” meriting reversal under *Griffin* because “[t]he judge’s response to the jury’s inquiry left the jury to assume that joint constructive possession was a proper theory upon which to convict.” *Id.* at 630. That analysis, however, was squarely rejected by *Griffin*. As the Supreme Court reasoned:

[P]etitioner asserts that the distinction between legal error and insufficiency of proof is illusory, since judgments that are not supported by the requisite minimum of proof are invalid *as a matter of law*—and indeed, in the criminal law field at least, are *constitutionally required* to be set aside. Insufficiency of proof, in other words, *is* legal error. This represents a purely semantical dispute. In one sense “legal error” includes inadequacy of evidence—namely, when the phrase is used as a term of art to designate those mistakes that it is the business of judges (in jury cases) and of appellate courts to identify and correct. In this sense “legal error” occurs when a jury, properly instructed as to the law, convicts on the basis of evidence that no reasonable person could regard as sufficient. But in another sense—a more natural and less artful sense—the term “legal error” means a mistake about the law, as opposed to a mistake concerning the weight or the

factual import of the evidence. The answer to petitioner's objection is simply that we are using “legal error” in the latter sense.

*Griffin*, 502 U.S. at 58-59 (emphasis in original) (citations omitted).

*Thomas* did exactly what the Supreme Court rejected in *Griffin* by conflating “a theory unsupported by the evidence” with “legal error” requiring reversal. *See Thomas*, 806 A.2d at 629-30. The Supreme Court expressly foreclosed this. *See Griffin*, 502 U.S. at 58-60; *see also United States v. Nieves-Burgos*, 62 F.3d 431, 436 (1st Cir. 1995) (“Prior to *Griffin*, we cited authority relying on *Yates* in support of the proposition that a general verdict returned on a charge asserting numerous grounds for conviction must be vacated where one or more of the grounds is insufficiently supported by the evidence and it is unclear whether the jury relied on the insufficient ground. *Griffin* renders this proposition unsound.”). Moreover, this Court’s cases before and after *Thomas* apply *Griffin*’s reasoning. *See Dickens v. United States*, 163 A.3d 804, 811-12 (D.C. 2017) (acknowledging the principle articulated in *Griffin*); *Inyamah*, 956 A.2d at 62 (cleaned up) (“A conviction generally is sustained under the circumstances where two correct theories of illegality are presented in the instructions and there is sufficient

evidence to convict only on one.”); *White*, 714 A.2d at 118 n.5 (conviction affirmed if either theory of liability had sufficient evidence); *Roy v. United States*, 652 A.2d 1098, 1103 (D.C. 1995) (explaining that this Court “must affirm [the] relevant convictions if the evidence was sufficient to support either [alternative] theory”).

Finally, Shelton argues (at 37-41) the government cannot show harmless error if the trial court erroneously instructed the jury on joint constructive possession, as “it is impossible to find, ‘with fair assurance, after pondering all that happened without stripping the erroneous action from the whole, that the judgment was not substantially swayed by the error.’” *Kotteakos v. United States*, 328 U.S. 750, 765 (1946). As argued above, *Griffin* forecloses a harmless analysis. *See, e.g., Mari*, 47 F.3d at 786 (citing *Griffin*, 502 U.S. at 55-56) (“[W]here a jury is charged that a defendant may be found guilty on a factual theory that is not supported by the evidence and is charged on factual theory that is so supported, and the only claimed error is the lack of evidence to support the first theory, the error is harmless as a matter of law.”).

However, even assuming that *Thomas* was conducting—without saying—a harmless analysis as Shelton suggests (at 40-41), the trial

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